© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

# **Preventing Postoperative Infections**

# **Current Treatment Recommendations**

# Inge C. Gyssens

Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, University Hospital Rotterdam, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

## Contents

Abstract
1. Principles and Evidence Derived from Well-Designed Studies
1.1 Definitions
1.2 Purpose of Prophylaxis with Antimicrobial Drugs
1.3 Risk Factors of Surgical Site Infection
1.4 Indications for Antibiotic Prophylaxis
1.5 Choice of Antimicrobial Drugs for Prophylaxis
1.6 Timing and Duration of Antimicrobial Prophylaxis
2. Adverse Effects of Antimicrobial Prophylaxis
2.1 Drug Reactions
2.2 Development of Resistance
3. Pitfalls in Antimicrobial Prophylaxis
3.1 Surveys
3.2 Audits
4. Recommendations
4.1 Development of Local Guidelines
4.2 Implementation of Guidelines
4.3 Continued Monitoring of Practice
5. Conclusions

# Abstract

Surgical site infections (SSI) remain a major source of postoperative morbidity. The preventive effect of antimicrobial drugs on postoperative infections is without debate. The common basis of accepted indications for prophylaxis is available evidence of effect. Valid reasons to administer antimicrobial prophylaxis include a significant reduction of SSI or reducing the risk of SSI in procedures where the consequences of infection are serious or even disastrous. The antimicrobial drug must be effective against pathogens associated with infection after a given procedure. The first generation cephalosporin, cefazolin, has been considered one of the prophylactic drugs of choice in many authoritative guidelines.

The optimal timing of intravenous antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery is considered to be about 30 minutes before incision, i.e. at induction of anaesthesia. A single dose of antimicrobial drugs before the operation is sufficient prophylaxis for most surgical procedures. The development of bacterial resistance is associated with antimicrobial use, and therefore prophylactic antibiotics should be used

as little as possible; in addition, the spectrum of activity of drugs used should be as narrow as possible. Although the principles of antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery have been clearly established, many reports continue to describe inappropriate drug use. Overconsumption in terms of invalid indications or use of drugs with too broad a spectrum of activity should be eliminated by adhering to accepted guidelines.

Practical suggestions are given to optimise timing, such as simple reminders on the daily operating programme, the display of prophylaxis regimens according to type of surgery in table format in the operating room and having the anaesthetist note the complete drug regimen on the patient's anaesthesia record. Such measures will help to optimise antibiotic prophylaxis and restrict if to the operating room where it belongs

Surgical wound infections are the most common nosocomial infections in patients undergoing surgery; they remain a major source of postoperative morbidity.[1] Many environmental factors can be manipulated to reduce the risk of postoperative infection (table I). Sound judgment and proper operative technique, as well as the general health and stage of disease of the patient, are considered the most critical factors in the prevention of postoperative wound infection by surgeons.<sup>[2]</sup> However, as these authors point out, fastidious surgical technique, although easily recognised, is difficult to measure, and host risk factors are difficult to optimise. These are major reasons why the considerable reduction in postoperative wound infection in the last quarter century has been mainly attributed to rational antimicrobial prophylaxis.

In this paper, only recommendations on the preventive effect of antimicrobial drugs will be given. Prophylaxis of endocarditis and prophylaxis of infection following diagnostic procedures (en-

**Table I.** Measures commonly used to reduce the risk of surgical site infection

Preoperative showers, bathing with disinfectant soap
Skin disinfection
Theatre environment (e.g. clean air, laminar air flow)
Gloving techniques, hand-washing
Elimination of nasal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus
Topical antimicrobial drugs in the operative field
Preoperative oral antimicrobial drugs
Perioperative systemic antimicrobial drugs
Wound infection surveillance feedback

doscopy) are purposely excluded. Identification of procedures at high risk of infection, choice of appropriate antimicrobial drugs and principles of administration will be discussed. Although only a small number of relevant original articles in the English literature up to 1997 have been cited here, authoritative guidelines or state-of-the art articles published in the past 5 years (rather than the original references) have been frequently referred to. The recommendations, based on an internationally accepted consensus of scientific societies, do not include detailed dosing regimens for specific procedures. Instead, they aim to provide the knowledge for developing local hospital-based programmes for prophylaxis with antimicrobial drugs, and, most importantly, for implementing these programmes and monitoring compliance with them.

# 1. Principles and Evidence Derived from Well-Designed Studies

#### 1.1 Definitions

The US Centers for Disease Control (CDC) have redefined the problem of postoperative infections, and proposed the term surgical site infections (SSI). [3] SSI are divided into incisional (superficial and deep) and organ/space infections, with the latter being used to describe the part of anatomy opened or manipulated during the operative procedure other than the incision. This revised classification clearly illustrates the variable clinical severity of these SSI. Some patients experience only a

minor superficial suppuration of the skin incision which is managed by removal of sutures and which resolves after a few days. At the other end of the spectrum, a patient with an infected hip prosthesis can experience lifelong incapacitation. This wide range in severity of SSI has an important impact on prophylaxis strategies in different surgical procedures.

# 1.2 Purpose of Prophylaxis with Antimicrobial Drugs

Early studies led to the recognition that reducing the amount of bacteria in the wound lowers the infection rate. Prophylaxis is aimed at a reduction of SSI by preventing local growth of potential pathogens in the tissues. Prophylaxis is mainly shown to be effective in reducing incisional SSI. Nosocomial infections in surgical patients at other sites than the operative site (e.g. respiratory, urinary) have been inconsistently reported to be influenced by the administration of preoperative antimicrobial drugs. However, most studies of surgical prophylaxis have not been designed to detect this effect. A significant lowering of the incidence of SSI results in several advantages:

- decrease of postoperative stay
- decrease in therapeutic use of antimicrobial drugs
- cost containment benefits.

## 1.3 Risk Factors of Surgical Site Infection

A classification of surgical procedures according to the chance of the incision being contaminated and, by inference, to the size of the bacterial inoculum, was created with the following 4 categories: clean, clean-contaminated, contaminated and dirty. It was assumed that clean operations had a low risk for postoperative infection (less than 5% in patients not receiving prophylactic antibiotics), and that contaminated operations had a higher risk.<sup>[4]</sup> Surveillance studies using this classification showed large variations in postoperative infection rates between centres for the same type of procedure.<sup>[5]</sup> This led to identification of intrinsic risk factors. Intrinsic factors associated with in-

**Table II.** Environmental, surgeon-related and patient-related risk factors associated with a higher rate of infection

# Factors known to increase risk, and which are easily amenable to intervention

Long preoperative stay

Preoperative antimicrobial therapy

Preoperative shaving 1 day before operation

Length of operation

Drains in wounds

Tissue damage

Blood loss/blood transfusion

#### Factors known to increase risk, and which are more difficult/impossible to reduce

Old age

Malnutrition

Obesity

Immunosuppression

Diabetes mellitus

Corticosteroid use

creased risk of surgical infection and their amenability via interventions are listed in table II. Because patients with these risk factors have a higher risk of infection, SSI rates must be stratified by risk factors. A consensus paper was published in which the CDC National Nosocomial Infection Surveillance (NNIS)-derived index<sup>[6]</sup> was chosen to stratify surgical wound infection data.<sup>[7]</sup> The NNIS-index stratifies by American Society of Anaesthetists score (a numeric quantification of disease severity), surgical wound class and duration of procedure.

## 1.4 Indications for Antibiotic Prophylaxis

The Infectious Diseases Society of America, [1] the American Society of Hospital Pharmacists, [8] the Canadian Infectious Diseases Society, [9] the French Society of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care [10] and the Surgical Infection Society, [11] all agree on a number of indications for antimicrobial prophylaxis which are listed in table III.

The common basis of these guidelines is available evidence of effect. There is agreement about most procedures with a risk of SSI higher than 10%. Patient studies have led to the classification of gastroduodenal, biliary and gynaecological

surgery into a category with low wound infection rates, therefore not necessitating prophylaxis. Exceptions are some specific operations or high risk procedures which are listed in table III. Prophylaxis should be restricted to these procedures. Cardiothoracic surgery consists mainly of coronary artery bypass grafts. Wound infection rates in these patients not receiving antimicrobial drugs have ranged from 9 to 54%. Nasal carriage of *Staphylococcal aureus* is a major risk factor.<sup>[21]</sup> Ceph-

**Table III.** Operative procedures for which antimicrobial prophylaxis is generally recommended

# Clean-contaminated and contaminated operations, risk of infection >5-30%

Colorectal<sup>[12]</sup>

Appendectomy<sup>a[13]</sup>

Oesophageal

Gastroduodenal high riskb

Small intestinal

Biliary high risk<sup>c</sup>

Gynaecological

hvsterectomv[14]

high risk caesarean sectiond

second trimester and first trimester high risk abortion<sup>[15]</sup>

Head and neck

incisions through oropharynx<sup>[16]</sup>

# Clean operations; risk of infection may be low but consequences are serious

Cardiac procedures with median sternotomy<sup>[8]</sup>

Noncardiac thoracic

pulmonary[11]

Neurosurgery

craniotomy<sup>[17]</sup>

\/occulo

abdominal aorta

groin incision<sup>[11]</sup>

Ophthalmic

cataract surgery

Vascular prostheses

Joint prostheses, [18] osteosyntheses [19]

- a Perforated appendicitis represents infection that has to be treated.
- b Situations in which gastric acidity and gastrointestinal motility is impaired, percutaneous gastrostomy, or when the patient is morbidly obese.
- Patients at high risk were defined by age > 70 years, with acute cholecystitis, common bile duct stones, or obstructive jaundice. [20]
- Premature rupture of the membranes, long duration of labour and nonelective surgery.<sup>[15]</sup>

alosporins have lowered the wound infection rate to below 7%.<sup>[8]</sup> In ocular lens surgery, the devastating consequences of endophthalmitis justify topical prophylaxis.

There is controversy, and thus disagreement, about antimicrobial prophylaxis in clean operations not belonging to the previously cited categories. The reason is a low risk of infection and poor evidence from randomised, controlled trials.[1,22] In fact, the list of procedures which do not require prophylaxis is long. Recent updates of guidelines now clearly state procedures for which prophylaxis is not warranted.<sup>[23]</sup> Examples are peripheral vascular carotid and vein surgery, surgery of the spine without prosthesis, most plastic surgery and urological procedures with sterile urine. A study by Platt et al.<sup>[24]</sup> reported a significant reduction in the numbers of infections after breast surgery and herniorrhaphy and suggested antimicrobial prophylaxis to yield a short term cost savings benefit. However, the routine use of antimicrobial prophylaxis in these clean surgical procedures is still considered controversial by members of the Surgical Infection Society of North America. [25] In some procedures such as cerebrospinal fluid shunt surgery, studies of antimicrobials against placebo have contributed to the insight that the benefits are probably minimal and that it is better to refrain from prophylaxis.<sup>[26]</sup>

Until recently, controlled trials of antibiotic prophylaxis in minimally invasive procedures (laparoscopic approach) were lacking.<sup>[27]</sup> Authors of prospective randomised clinical trials of antimicrobial prophylaxis in low risk laparoscopic cholecystectomy<sup>[28]</sup> and arthroscopic surgery<sup>[29]</sup> concluded that in these clean procedures, routine prophylaxis was not indicated. In contaminated laparoscopic procedures, such as high-risk cholecystectomy and bowel surgery, it is probably safest to apply the standards for similar open procedures in the absence of well conducted studies.<sup>[1]</sup> Although some host risk factors for development of postoperative wound infection are now acknowledged to a variable degree, [6] there is no standardisation of recommendations in the surgical literature for antibacterial prophylaxis in clean procedures regarding populations with impaired host defences.

# 1.5 Choice of Antimicrobial Drugs for Prophylaxis

Criteria describing the ideal antimicrobial agent for prophylaxis are listed in table IV. The drug must be effective against pathogens associated with infection after a given procedure. It is not necessary to cover the entire spectrum of contaminants of the wound. Table V lists both major pathogens causing SSI in procedures where prophylaxis is without debate and antimicrobial drugs of choice in these settings. Ideally, data on the sensitivities of bacteria from human commensal flora in the same geographical area should be used. If available, data from hospital infection-surveillance programmes should be used to monitor resistance patterns of pathogens causing SSI. Because incisional surgical infections are predominantly caused by S. aureus, activity against S. aureus is needed for all procedures that have at least 1 incision through the skin. First generation cephalosporins, such as cefazolin, have been considered the prophylactic drug of choice.[1,8-11,22]

Table IV. Characteristics of the ideal prophylactic antimicrobial drug

Has the necessary spectrum of activity and is active against the pathogens causing postoperative surgical site infections in patients

Reaches adequate concentrations in the tissues of the operative site

Has a half-life which permits single dose injections
Can be given by bolus injection at induction of anesthesia
Has no adverse effects associated with short term administration
Is not allergenic

Does not interact with drugs given perioperatively

Does not select for resistant micro-organisms in the patient
Is not an essential drug of the therapeutic arsenal
Is not expensive

Cefazolin has most of the characteristics of the ideal drug listed in table IV. Its effectiveness has been shown in many clinical trials. In prosthetic implant surgery, coverage against methicillinresistant *S. epidermidis* can be of concern, since in the UK methicillin-resistant *S. epidermidis* have been detected on the skin of healthy adults who had not received any antimicrobial treatment for more than a year.<sup>[30]</sup> A recent review of 4 patient studies in prosthetic joint surgery showed equal effects of the glycopeptide teicoplanin (effective against

Table V. Major pathogens causing surgical site infections and antimicrobial drugs of choice for prophylaxis

Pathogens	Procedures	Drug/preoperative dose
Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis	Clean procedures (skin incision, no opening of viscus) for which prophylaxis is accepted <sup>a</sup>	Cefazolin 1-2g, (flu)cloxacillin 1g, clindamycin <sup>b</sup> 600mg, vancomycin 1g <sup>c</sup>
S. aureus Streptococci and oral anaerobes	Contaminated head and neck surgery Oesophageal	Cefazolin 1-2g, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid 1g, clindamycin 600mg
Enterobacteriaceae and streptococci and Gram-positive cocci	Gastroduodenal high risk Biliary high risk	Cefazolin 1-2g
Enterobacteriaceae and all anaerobes and <i>S. aureus</i>	Appendectomy Colorectal <sup>d</sup> /distal ileum Abdominal hysterectomy Caesarean section high risk <sup>e</sup>	Cefazolin 1-2g and metronidazole 500mg, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid 1g, cefotetan 1g, cefoxitin 2g
Enterobacteriaceae all anaerobes	Vaginal hysterectomy	Cefazolin 1-2g and metronidazole 500mg, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid 1g, cefotetan 1g, cefoxitin 2g

- a Includes thoracic and open heart surgery, craniotomy, insertion of vascular and articular prostheses.
- b In patients with β-lactam allergy.
- c When methicillin-resistant staphylococcal aureaus (MRSA) cause surgical site infections.
- d Colorectal: Oral neomycin and erythromycin base combined with bowel cleansing, starting 18 hours before the procedure.
- e After clamping of the umbilical cord.

MRSA and MRSE), and of cephalosporins. [31] Since the glycopeptides vancomycin and teicoplanin are the last resource in the treatment of methicillinresistant infections it is prudent to limit the use of glycopeptides to surgical prophylaxis in patients who are MRSA or MRSE carriers.[32] In colorectal surgery, activity against aerobe Gram-negative gut bacteria (Enterobacteriaceae, predominantly Escherichia coli) and Gram-positive and Gram-negative anaerobes (Bacteroides spp.) is required. A recent study comparing cefotetan with cefazolin in gynaecological surgery has provided convincing results regarding the need for antimicrobials with anaerobic activity.[14] A greater number of infections (11.6%) developed in the patients undergoing elective total abdominal hysterectomy who were given cefazolin 1g compared with those who received cefotetan 1g (6.3%). It is anticipated that a single dose of metronidazole 500mg in addition to cefazolin could provide the same efficacy against anaerobes (table V).

If the oropharyngeal anaerobic flora is still susceptible to penicillin and cefazolin, there is no need for  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors, or specific drugs with anaerobic activity, as prophylaxis in contaminated head and neck surgery. A recent study has supported the need for activity against Gram-negative aerobes in these patients. [33] Second generation cephalosporins (cefamandole, cefuroxime) have no advantages over cefazolin in surgical prophylaxis: they have a slightly broader spectrum against Enterobacteriaceae, which is not needed in elective surgery, and they are more expensive.

For all procedures for which drugs with anaerobic activity are needed, metronidazole can be combined with the cephalosporin. However, a disadvantage of metronidazole is the need for a slow infusion. Although metronidazole is a cornerstone of antimicrobial therapy in Europe, no increase in antimicrobial resistance to it has been reported to date. Second generation cephalosporins with activity against anaerobes such as cefotetan or cefoxitin are extensively used in the US and constitute an alternative for the combination cefazolin plus metronidazole. Although their anaerobic activity is

less potent than that of metronidazole, it is probably sufficient for prophylaxis.

Cefotetan has a longer serum half-life (3 to 4.6 hours) than cefazolin (1.4 to 1.8 hours) and cefoxitin (45 minutes), and does not require repeat injections during surgery. Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid inhibits β-lactamase producing methicillinsensitive S. aureus and S. epidermidis. Methicillinresistant strains are resistant to this combination. In clean surgery, the broad spectrum of action of amoxicillin-clavulanic acid against Gram-negative aerobes and anaerobes is not needed, and in addition, there is concern that its use encourages the development of resistance.<sup>[34]</sup> Most prophylaxis studies with amoxicillin-clavulanic acid have been small and unblinded, although a meta-analysis is available.<sup>[35]</sup> Ampicillin-sulbactam has a spectrum of activity comparable to amoxicillin-clavulanic acid. Alternative drugs effective against staphylococci are clindamycin and vancomycin. Clindamycin is derived from a macrolide compound, and is effective against over 90% of methicillin-susceptible S. aureus and most anaerobes. It can be used for patients allergic to  $\beta$ -lactams.

For drugs with equal efficacy, the drug with the least potential for causing adverse effects should be chosen. The cost of antimicrobial prophylaxis is only a minor issue when the cost of perioperative regimens are compared. Replacement of expensive drugs saves money but the gain is modest. [36]

Parenteral [intravenous (IV)] administration of antimicrobial drug prophylaxis is used for most procedures (table V). Oral prophylaxis has been successfully used only in bowel surgery; neomycin plus erythromycin base is still an accepted standard in the US.<sup>[23]</sup> The benefit of combinations of oral and IV prophylaxis has never been established.<sup>[13]</sup> Topical mupirocin as a nasal ointment has reduced SSI in cardiothoracic surgery.<sup>[21]</sup> The antimicrobial effect of clindamycin mouthwashes has recently been studied in contaminated head and neck surgery.<sup>[37]</sup> Prophylaxis with topical antibiotics was more effective than with parenteral administration at reducing the number of bacteria in the neck viscera, a theoretical advantage in this type of surgery.

The effect of antibiotic-containing cement in combination with IV administered drugs in total hip arthroplasty led to less revision surgery for infection of the prosthesis than either prophylactic measure alone. [38] In ocular lens surgery, antibiotic-supplemented irrigating solutions are being used.

# 1.6 Timing and Duration of Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

Protection against infection is maximal when the antibiotic is present in the tissues before microbial inoculation of the wound occurs. The rationale is to be found in the experimental work of Burke<sup>[39]</sup> and the clinical trials of Stone et al.[40] The half-life of the antimicrobial drug should be long enough such that a single injection can guarantee adequate concentrations in the tissues until the end of the procedure, or an additional intraoperative dose will need to be given. The same applies when blood loss amounts to more than 2 litres. Studies in patients have confirmed the importance of the timing of antimicrobial administration, as administration more than 1 hour preoperatively has resulted in a higher rate of infective complications.<sup>[41]</sup> In addition, the rates of wound infections increased further when the drug was given either more than 2 hours preoperatively or at any time postoperatively.[42]

The timing of IV antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery has been considered to be optimal about 30 minutes before incision, i.e. at induction of anaesthesia.<sup>[23]</sup> A single dose of antimicrobial drugs before the operation is sufficient prophylaxis for most surgical procedures;<sup>[43]</sup> single doses have been effective in hysterectomy,[44] caesarean section, gastric, biliary and colorectal surgery including appendicitis, head and neck surgery, [16] arthroplasties, [45] and recently, cardiac surgery. [46] The interpretation of the results of clinical trials concerning the optimal number of antimicrobial doses has been hampered by a frequently encountered study design which compares a single dose of a new, broad spectrum drug) sometimes with a long half life) with multiple doses of a an older, narrow spectrum drug. Although explained by the need to

obtain funding, this approach has left many questions on choice of antibiotic and optimal dose and duration unanswered. In colorectal surgery, a recent meta-analysis of 147 trials could identify only seventeen trials that compared a single-dose regimen with a multiple-dose (2 or more doses) regimen using the same antibiotic or combinations of antibiotics. There were no significant differences in surgical wound infection rates, even when the results were pooled.<sup>[47]</sup> A consensus on postoperative administration of antimicrobial drugs has been recently published.<sup>[48]</sup>

# 2. Adverse Effects of Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

# 2.1 Drug Reactions

Any drug used for prophylaxis should not produce major adverse events and should not interact with anaesthetic drugs. Also, a careful history of allergies should be taken from the patient before drug administration. Allergic reactions and anaphylaxis are well known for penicillins, e.g. (flu)cloxacillin, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid or ampicillin/ sulbactam. Due to lower risk of allergy, cephalosporins are preferred to penicillins. The cross-reactivity of cephalosporins in persons with a penicillin allergy is less than 10%.[49] If an immediate hypersensitivity reaction to a β-lactam antibiotic is reported, an alternative drug from another class, such as clindamycin, should be given. Vancomycin is another alternative; however, rapid infusion of the drug can cause flushing of the upper body, pain and muscle spasm. Thus, the drug should be infused over a 60 minute period. Colitis due to Clostridium difficile toxins has been reported after perioperative prophylaxis with cephalosporins.<sup>[50]</sup>

#### 2.2 Development of Resistance

Because the development of resistance is associated with antimicrobial use, prophylactic antibiotics should be used as little as possible, with drugs with as narrow a spectrum as possible. Preferentially, drugs should be selected that will not be used in therapy. Third generation cephalosporins

such as cefotaxime and ceftriaxone, ceftazidime and ceftizoxime offer no advantage over the first generation cephalosporins in surgical prophylaxis because they are less active against staphylococci. Their unnecessary broad spectrum of activity can select for resistant micro-organisms. With the exception of ceftriaxone, of which due to its long half-life 1 dose can be considered as 24 hour prophylaxis, third generation cephalosporins are more expensive than their first generation cousins. The same conditions apply to broad spectrum penicillins, fluoroguinolones and carbapenems. Since glycopeptides are an important part of the therapeutic arsenal, their use in prophylaxis should be avoided.<sup>[51]</sup> Cautious use of topical mupirocin is also warranted as in many countries nasal mupirocin plays a major role in containing outbreaks of MRSA.[52]

# 3. Pitfalls in Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

The Achilles heel of surgical prophylaxis is logistics. Although the principles of antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery have been clearly established, many reports continue to describe inappropriate use. The adoption of agreed upon guidelines is the basis, but not a guarantee, for success of a programme.

# 3.1 Surveys

A few surveys using questionnaires have been conducted to provide information on the availability of guidelines for surgical prophylaxis in hospitals. In Britain, half of the respondent microbiologists stated that guidelines were available or in preparation, although response rates to the survey were only 41%.<sup>[53]</sup> Surveys of surgeons before the introduction of guidelines, <sup>[26,54]</sup> or anaesthetists, <sup>[55]</sup> yielded response rates between 81 and 91%.

#### 3.2 Audits

Although some information on the availability of guidelines has been provided by surveys, compliance with these guidelines can be extremely deficient in daily practice. Overall compliance with older guidelines was as low as 32%. [36] Correct timing of prophylaxis seems to be a worldwide problem. In their review of the timeliness of antimicrobial prophylaxis in 44 US hospitals, Silver et al. [56] found that up to 54% of patients did not receive the drugs within 2 hours preoperatively. Gyssens et al. [57] found suboptimal timing in 53% of operations in a university hospital in The Netherlands. In Israel, inappropriate antibacterial prophylaxis timing was recorded in 46% of operations. [58]

### 4. Recommendations

The strategy outlined in table VI has been successful in an intervention study optimising the quality of surgical prophylaxis, including timing of the prophylaxis.<sup>[36,58]</sup>

**Table VI.** Strategy for the successful implementation of surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis by a multidisciplinary team<sup>a</sup>

- 1. Review current practices. Consult and discuss the most recent authoritative guidelines of scientific societies of all disciplines
- 2. Adapt into local guidelines with the surgeons, but do not impose guidelines upon them. Identify procedures which need and do not need antimicrobial prophylaxis
- 3. Use a minimal number of different drugs and different dosing regimens for all procedures and within one discipline
- 4. Select the drugs for prophylaxis which are not needed for subsequent therapy
- 5. Allow a local surgical opinion leader to introduce and implement these guidelines in his/her own division
- 6. Transform these guidelines into clear instructions in table format<sup>b</sup> for each division, and display them for staff and nurses in the wards
- 7. Introduce a prophylaxis +/- column to be filled in on the daily operating room programme
- 8. Involve all anaesthetists and have the complete drug regimen noted on the patient's anaesthesia record, including the exact time of administration checked off on a time scale
- 9. Display the clear instructions in table format in the operating room
- 10. As a general rule, keep prophylaxis simple and unambiguous
- A multidisciplinary team would comprise infectious disease specialists, medical microbiologists, clinical pharmacists, surgeons and anesthesiologists.
- b The table would contain drug name, dosage(s), route, with alternatives for patients with  $\beta$ -lactam allergies.

## 4.1 Development of Local Guidelines

A forum for discussion can be started by a multidisciplinary team with a review or a survey of current practices and how these differ from a quality standard for prophylaxis. The strongest argument against invalid prophylaxis is that the incidence of infections will only slightly be lowered and that the benefits of prophylaxis do not counterbalance the disadvantages (toxicity, induction of resistance, costs). If there is no standard or consensus, it is better to refrain from prophylaxis. The selection of a drug for prophylaxis, and limiting its use to prophylaxis alone, avoids any confusion between prophylaxis and therapy and facilitates detection of prolonged prophylaxis practices. Standardised regimens will also improve drug quality-of-use.

## 4.2 Implementation of Guidelines

Compliance with any guidelines depends on their acceptance by each individual surgeon. Such acceptance can be enhanced by the introduction of the guidelines by a surgical staff member. All practical measures described in table VI can be adapted to the local setting.

### 4.3 Continued Monitoring of Practice

Criteria for inappropriate prophylaxis should be defined by local hospital staff after review of published guidelines.<sup>[59]</sup> Established criteria are available for consultation. <sup>[60]</sup> Compliance with the local guidelines can be reviewed and summarised by type of procedure, surgeon (anonymously) and service, and reported to department chiefs. <sup>[1]</sup> Antibiotic order forms can assist with timely discontinuation of drug prophylaxis, as can computer-assisted support. <sup>[61]</sup>

# 5. Conclusions

The purpose of these recommendations is to ensure the prophylactic use of antibacterials in surgical procedures in which they have been demonstrated to be effective. The outcome is a reduction in SSI rates and a limitation on the amount of

antimicrobial agents used in settings where they are controversial. The motto should be: if there is no standard or consensus, better refrain from prophylaxis. The strongest argument against prophylaxis in these procedures is the fact that the incidence of infections will not be lowered and the benefits of prophylaxis do not outweigh the disadvantages (toxicity, induction of resistance, costs).

The balance between benefit and toxicity should be seen on a long term basis. If very large studies are needed to prove a minimal benefit, it means that many patients will have to be exposed to prophylaxis to avoid a few, minor infections. The choice of antimicrobial drug is very important: drugs which are typically reserved for resistant organisms are usually not advisable for prophylaxis. In view of increasing microbial resistance to antibiotics worldwide, it is time to concentrate efforts on the development of implementation and surveillance strategies, rather than setting up studies to compare nearly equivalent drugs for procedures in which the risk of infection is low.

#### References

- Dellinger EP, Gross PA, Barrett TL, et al. Quality standard for antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgical procedures. Clin Infect Dis 1994; 18: 422-7
- Holzheimer RG, Haupt W, Thiede A, et al. The challenge of postoperative infections: does the surgeon make a difference? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1997; 18: 449-56
- Horan TC, Gaynes RP, Martone WJ, et al. CDC definitions of nosocomial surgical site infections, 1992: a modification of CDC definitions of surgical wound infections. Am J Infect Control 1992; 20: 271-4
- Cruse PJE, Foord R. The epidemiology of wound infection: a 10-year prospective study of 62,939 wounds. Surg Clin North Am 1980; 60: 27-40
- Olson MM, Lee JT. Continuous, 10-year wound infection surveillance results, advantages, and unanswered questions. Arch Surg 1990; 125: 794-803
- Culver DH, Horan TC, Gaynes RP, et al. Surgical wound infection rates by wound class, operative procedure and patient risk index. Am J Med 1991; 91: 152S-63S
- Sherertz RJ, Garibaldi RA, Marosok RD, et al. Consensus paper on the surveillance of surgical wound infections. Am J Infect Control 1992; 20: 263-70
- ASHP Commission on Therapeutics. ASHP therapeutic guidelines on antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery. Clin Pharm 1992; 11: 483-513
- Committee on Antimicrobial Agents, Canadian Infectious Disease Society, Wadell TK, et al. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery. Can Med Assoc J 1994; 151: 925-31
- Martin C, French Study Group on Antimicrobial Prophylaxis in Surgery, French Society of Anesthesia and Intensive Care.

- Antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery: general concepts and clinical guidelines. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1994; 15: 463.71
- Page CP, Bohnen JMA, Fletcher JR, et al. Antimicrobial prophylaxis for surgical wounds: guidelines for clinical care. Arch Surg 1993; 128: 79-88
- Baum ML, Anish DS, Chalmers TC, et al. A survey of clinical trials of antibiotic prophylaxis in colon surgery: evidence against further use of no-treatment controls. N Engl J Med 1981; 305: 795-9
- Gorbach SL. Antimicrobial prophylaxis for appendectomy and colorectal surgery. Rev Infect Dis 1991; 13 Suppl. 10: S815-20
- Hemsell DL, Johnson ER, Hemsell PG, et al. Cefazolin is inferior to cefotetan as single-dose prophylaxis for women undergoing elective total abdominal hysterectomy. Clin Infect Dis 1995; 20: 677-84
- Hemsell DL. Prophylactic antibiotics in gynecologic and obstetric surgery. Rev Infect Dis 1991; 13 Suppl. 10: S821-41
- Shapiro M. Prophylaxis in otolaryngologic surgery and neurosurgery: a critical review. Rev Infect Dis 1991; 13 Suppl. 10: \$858-68
- Van Ek B, Dijkmans BAC, Van Dulken H, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis in craniotomy: a prospective double-blind placebocontrolled study. Scand J Infect Dis 1988; 20: 633-9
- Hill C, Margas F, Flamant R, et al. Prophylactic cefazolin versus placebo in total hip replacement. Lancet 1981; I: 795-7
- Boxma H, Broekhuizen T, Patka P, et al. Randomised controlled trial of single-dose antibiotic prophylaxis in surgical treatment of closed fractures: the Dutch trauma trial. Lancet 1996; 347: 1133-7
- Chetlin SH, Elliot DW. Preoperative antibiotics in biliary surgery. Arch Surg 1973; 107: 319-23
- Kluytmans JAJW, Mouton JW, VandenBergh MFQ, et al. Reduction of surgical-site infections in cardiothoracic surgery by elimination of nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1996; 17: 780-5
- Kernodle DS, Kaiser AB. Postoperative infections and antimicrobial prophylaxis. In: Mandell GL, Bennett JE, Dolin R, editors. Mandell, Douglas and Bennett's principles and practice of infectious diseases. New York: Churchill Livingstone, 1995: 2742-56
- Anonymous. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery. Med Lett Drug Ther 1997 Oct; 37 (1012): 97-101
- Platt R, Zaleznik DF, Hopkins CC, et al. Perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis for herniorrhaphy and breast surgery. N Engl J Med 1990; 322: 153-60
- Nichols RL. Surgical infections: prevention and treatment: 1965 to 1995. Am J Surg 1996; 172: 68-74
- Infection in Neurosurgery Working Party of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in neurosurgery and after head injury. Lancet 1994; 344: 1547-51
- Wilson APR. Antibiotic prophylaxis and infection control measures in minimally invasive surgery. J Antimicrob Chemother 1995; 36: 1-5
- Illig KA, Schmidt E, Cavenaugh J, et al. Are prophylactic antibiotics required for elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy? J Am Coll Surg 1997; 184: 353-6
- Wieck JA, Jackson JK, O'Brien TJ, et al. Efficacy of prophylactic antibiotics in arthroscopic surgery. Orthopedics 1997; 20: 133-4
- Cove JH, Eady EA, Cunliffe WJ. Skin carriage of antibioticresistant coagulase-negative staphylococci in untreated subjects. J Antimicrob Chemoth 1990; 25: 459-69

 Periti P, Mini E, Mosconi G. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in orthopaedic surgery: the role of teicoplanin. J Antimicrob Chemother 1998; 41: 329-40

- Sanderson PJ. Prophylaxis in orthopaedic implant surgery: should we use a glycopeptide? J Antimicrob Chemother 1998; 41: 322-25
- Weber RS, Raad I, Frankenthaler R, et al. Ampicillin-sulbactam vs clindamycin in head and neck oncologic surgery. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1992; 118: 1159-63
- 34. Gross PA. The potential for clinical guidelines to impact appropriate antimicrobial agent use. Infect Dis Clin North Am 1997; 11: 803-12
- Wilson APR, Shrimpton S, Jaderberg M. A meta-analysis of the use of amoxicillin-clavulanic acid in surgical prophylaxis. J Hosp Infect 1992; 22 Suppl. A: 9-21
- Gyssens IC, Geerligs IEJ, Dony JMJ, et al. Optimising antimicrobial drug use in surgery: an intervention study in a Dutch university hospital. J Antimicrob Chemother 1996; 38: 1001-12
- Rubin Grandis J, Vickers RM, Rihs JD, et al. Efficacy of topical amoxicillin plus clavulanate/ticarcillin plus clavulanate and clindamycin in contaminated head and neck surgery: effect of antibiotic spectra and duration of therapy. J Infect Dis 1994; 170: 729-32
- Espehaug B, Engesaeter LB, Vollset SE, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis in total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg 1997; 79-B: 590-5
- Burke JF. The effective period of preventive antibiotic action in experimental incisions and dermal lesions. Surgery 1961; 50: 161-8
- Stone HH, Hooper CA, Kolb LD, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis in gastric, biliary and colonic surgery. Ann Surg 1976; 184: 443-50
- Galandiuk S, Polk HC, Jagelman DG, et al. Re-emphasis of priorities in surgical antibiotic prophylaxis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1989; 169: 219-22
- Classen DC, Evans RS, Pestotnik SL, et al. The timing of prophylactic administration of antibiotics and the risk of surgical-wound infection. N Engl J Med 1992; 326: 281-6
- DiPiro JT, Cheung RPF, Bowden TAJ, et al. Single dose systemic antibiotic prophylaxis of surgical wound infections. Am J Surg 1986; 152: 552-9
- Hemsell DL, Heard MC, Nobles BJ, et al. Single-dose prophylaxis for vaginal and abdominal hysterectomy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987; 157: 498-501
- Wymenga AB, Van Horn J, Theeuwes A, et al. Cefuroxime for prevention of postoperative coxitis: one versus three doses tested in a randomized multicenter study of 2,651 arthroplasties. Acta Orthop Scand 1992; 63: 19-24
- 46. Nooyen SMH, Overbeek BP, Brutel de la Rivière A, et al. Prospective randomised comparison of single-dose versus multiple-dose cefuroxime for prophylaxis in coronary artery bypass grafting. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 1994; 13: 1033-7
- Song F, Glenny AM. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in colorectal surgery: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Br J Surg 1998; 85: 1232-41
- 48. Schein M, Wittman DH, Lorenz W. Forum statement: a plea for selective and controlled postoperative antibiotic administration. Eur J Surg Suppl 1996; 576: 66-9
- Kucers A. Cephalosporins and related drugs. In: Kucers A, Crowe SM, Grayson ML, editors, et al. The use of antibiotics. 5th ed. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1997: 251-427
- Spencer RC. The role of antimicrobial agents in the aetiology of *Clostridum difficile*-associated disease. J Antimicrob Chemother 1998; 41 Suppl. C: 21-7

- Hospital Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). Recommendations for preventing the spread of vancomycin resistance. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1995; 16: 105-13
- Mehtar S. New strategies for the use of mupirocin for the prevention of serious infection. J Hosp Infect 1998; 40 Suppl. B: \$39-44
- Widdison AL, Pope NR, Brown EM. Survey of guidelines for antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery. J Hosp Infect 1993; 25: 199-295
- Lee KR, Ring JC, Leggiadro RJ. Prophylactic antibiotic use in pediatric cardiovascular surgery: a survey of current practice. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1995; 14: 267-9
- Gyssens IC, Knape JTA, Van Hal G, et al. The anaesthetist as determinant factor of quality of surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis. Pharm World Sci 1997; 19: 89-92
- Silver A, Eichorn A, Kral J, et al. Timeliness and use of antibiotic prophylaxis in selected inpatient surgical procedures. Am J Surg 1996; 171: 548-52
- Gyssens IC, Geerligs IEJ, Nannini-Bergman MG, et al. Optimizing the timing of antimicrobial drug prophylaxis in surgery: an intervention study. J Antimicrob Chemother 1996; 38: 301-8

- Finkelstein R, Reinhertz G, Embom A. Surveillance of the use of antibiotic prophylaxis in surgery. Isr J Med Sci 1996; 32: 1093-7
- Goldmann DA, Weinstein RA, Wenzel RP, et al. Strategies to prevent and control the emergence and spread of antimicrobial-resistant microorganisms in hospitals. JAMA 1996; 275: 234-40
- Gyssens IC, Van den Broek PJ, Kullberg BJ, et al. Optimizing antimicrobial therapy: a method for antimicrobial drug evaluation. J Antimicrob Chemother 1992; 30: 724-7
- Pestotnik SL, Classen DC, Evans RS, et al. Implementing antibiotic practice guidelines through computer-assisted decision support: clinical and financial outcomes. Ann Intern Med 1996; 124: 884-90

Correspondence and reprints: Dr *Inge C. Gyssens* Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, University Hospital Rotterdam, Dijkzigt, PO Box 2040, 3000 CA Rotterdam, The Netherlands.

E-mail: gyssens@bacl.azr.nl